IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TASON	BRICE	LOONEY
OTOOM		TOOMET !

Appellant,

vs. Case Number SC00-458

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA SANDERS FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 442178 80 MARKET ST. APALACHICOLA, FL 32320 (850) 653-8976

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the Case.

This appeal is from a Second Judicial Circuit in and for Wakulla County final judgment of conviction imposing two death sentences on Mr. Looney for the first-degree murder of Melanie King and Keith Spears. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure.

(ii) Course of Proceedings.

A grand jury in Wakulla County indicted Jimmy Wayne Dempsey, Guerry Dewayne Hertz and Jason Brice Looney for the first-degree murders of Melanie King and Keith Spears. In addition, the three men were charged with burglary of a dwelling while armed; robbery with a firearm; arson of a dwelling; and using a firearm during the commission of a felony. R1-1-3.¹ Contemporaneous with the indictment, the State filed a notice of its intent to seek the death penalty against all three men. R1-14.

Mr. Looney filed a motion to sever his case from that of the other co-defendants. R1-23. The judge's order severed the trial of Dempsey from Hertz and Looney. R1-25. Looney then filed a motion for change of venue. R1-26-27.

The State filed a motion to consolidate the trials of Hertz and Looney. R1-31. This seems to be inconsistent with the

¹Count 6 is erroneously labeled Count IV.

judge's prior order which only severed Dempsey's case. The defense filed an amended motion to suppress statements made by Mr. Looney while being transported from Daytona Beach to Crawfordville. R1-89. This motion was denied. R1-138. The defense also filed a motion to suppress statements Mr. Looney made during "various interrogations." R1-97. The motion was denied. R1-130.

The defense filed a series of motions directed toward a possible death sentence. The first motion asked the judge to declare the entire death penalty statute unconstitutional based on Schad v. Arizona. R1-133. The court ordered that a record be made of all hardship excuses made by potential jurors and that none be made without the defense lawyer being present. R1-137. The defense filed a motion seeking to have Section 921.141(5)(d) declared unconstitutional on its face. This aggravator deals with the capital felony be committed while the defendant is engaged in the commission of a specified felony. R1-65. This motion was denied. R1-134. The defense also made a pre-selection request for additional peremptory challenges. R1-62. This motion was denied. R1-132. The Court also denied a motion requesting that Section 922.10 be declared unconstitutional. R1-135.

During the trial, the defendants objected to the

introduction of State's Exhibit 1-C, a photograph showing two bodies lying face down side-by-side on the bed, burned beyond recognition. R13-1544. The defense argued that State's Exhibit 1-T and 1-U illustrated the condition of the crime scene, including the bed, without the bodies. <u>Id.</u> The objection was overruled and all of the photographs of the crime scene were admitted.

The defendants also objected to the use of the autopsy photos, asking to conduct voir dire of the medical examiner to establish the need for the photographs. R13-1587. The objection was overruled and the request for voir dire was denied. R13-1587. The objection to the autopsy photographs was renewed when the medical examiner did not use the photographs to explain the cause of death. R13-1591. The objection was overruled again. R13-1592. The defense also objected to the method of publication being a "huge colored blowup." R13-1593.

The defendant objected to evidence of the shootout and capture in Volusia County and the objection was overruled. R15-1728.

Jason Looney moved for a mistrial when Inmate Hathcock testified about a statement that Hertz had made implicating Looney. R15-1850. The basis of the motion was his inability to cross-examine Hertz about the statement. R15-1850. The State

admitted that the testimony was a mistake but argued that a curative instruction should be sufficient because the mistake was "harmless." R15-1851, 1854. The judge treated the motion as one for a severance, over the protests of defense counsel, took the matter under advisement, and denied the State's request for a curative instruction. R15-1858. Hertz then asked the judge to advise the jury to disregard the testimony of Hathcock and the judge agreed to do so. R15-1859. The judge denied the motion for mistrial, struck the testimony of Hathcock, and instructed the jury to disregard the testimony. R15-1882, 1892.

The defense moved for judgments of acquittal at the close of the State's case-in-chief and the motions were denied. R16-1986.

(iii) Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

The guilt phase of the trial ended with the jury finding Mr. Looney guilty of each charge. R18-2179-80; R1-176(murder of Melaine King); R1-177 (murder of Keith Spears); R1-178 (burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm); R1-179 (robbery with a firearm); R1-180 (arson of a dwelling); R1-181 (use of a firearm in the commission of a felony).

The jury recommended that death be imposed for the murders of Ms. King and Mr. Spears by identical 10-2 votes. R1-189, 190; R19-2414-15. By written order, the judge imposed a sentence of

death for each murder. 2-281-290. In the four noncapital cases, the judge sentence Mr. Looney to life on the burglary of a dwelling while armed (Count III); R2-276; life on the robbery with a firearm (Count IV) R2-277; 30 years on the arson of a dwelling (Count V) R2-278; and 15 years for the use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (Count VI) R2-279. All sentences were ordered to run consecutive to one another. R2-280.

From these judgments and sentences, Mr. Looney filed a timely notice of appeal. R2-292.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 26, 1997, the day before the murders of Melanie King and Keith Spears in Wakulla County, Florida, Jimmy Wayne Dempsey was at Tommy Bull's house in Crawfordville doing odd jobs for Bull's mother. R13-1603. Dempsey got paid that day. R16-1896. Around 10:30 p.m., as Bull and Dempsey were watching television, Guerry Wayne Hertz and Jason Brice Looney came over. R13-1604. Dempsey had known Hertz for seven years and had just met Looney three days before. R16-1897. Bull knew Hertz but had only met Looney the day before. R13-1604-05. Looney had a large, chrome

²The judge classified all of the noncapital sentences as departures from the guidelines and justified the departures based on the two capital felonies that were not scored. (R2-289) There does not appear to be a scoresheet in the file.

pistol stuffed in the back of his pants when he arrived which he removed when he sat down after asking Bull's permission. R13-1606-07.

Dempsey needed a ride to Tallahassee to get his belongings out of his apartment because he had violated his probation and had to move. R16-1899. Dempsey had been hiding out at Hertz's trailer the previous three days to avoid being arrested for violating his probation. R16-1930. He had a firearm he had brought with him from Tallahassee, and he had used that gun for target practice at Hertz's residence. He had toyed with the idea of shooting it out with police if they came to pick him up. R16-1932-33. When a police officer did come to Hertz's residence the second day Dempsey was there, Dempsey hid inside the trailer armed with his gun. R16-1934. He would possibly have shot the officer. Id. Dempsey did not say anyone else was present at the trailer that day. During the three-day period, Hertz did not have a firearm. R16-1935.

Bull had understood that the three wanted to go to Tallahassee to get Dempsey's television and Nintendo game. R13-1605. Bull refused to give them a ride because the hour was late, so the trio left on foot around 11 p.m. R13-1605-06. Hertz and Looney were at Bull's house under 45 minutes. R13-1605; R16-1898.

Dempsey, Hertz and Looney walked to Hertz's trailer, which was just down the road, planning to play cards. R16-1899. They discussed that they were tired of walking everywhere, that transportation had become a problem. Id. At some point, they decided to steal a car. R16-1900. Dempsey was armed with a .38 Special, Looney with a rifle, and Hertz with the .357 pistol that was loaned to him by Looney. Id. Dempsey carried a knapsack which contained the duct tape. R16-1901. He knew how to hot-wire a car and was going to use the tape on the car's window to minimize shattering and the chance of getting cut. R16-1903. The three did not have a set plan. R16-1901, 1903.

First they spotted a Cherokee and debated whether to steal it. R16-1901. Because the owner had a very large dog, they were not able to gain entry into the house. R16-1903. Dempsey did not explain why they needed to gain entry into the house.

Joyce Ventry, the owner of the Cherokee, R13-1533, was awakened around 2:00 a.m., some three hours after Dempsey, Hertz, and Looney had left Bull's house, by somebody knocking on the side of her house. R13-1529. She saw a figure outside her window. Id. When she went to the front door to turn on the light, a person was right there. R13-1530. At the time she thought it was the same person she had seen outside her window.

<u>Id.</u> Ms. Ventry could not testify that there was more than one person at her house that night. The person she saw from her window was smaller than the person at the door, but she thought there was just one person. R13-1533.

The man asked to use the phone because his truck had broken down. R13-1530. Ms. Ventry told the man at the door not to come in because her barking dog would attack. She identified defendant, Guerry Wayne Hertz, as the man at her door. R13-1531. Ms. Ventry offered to make the call herself, but the man at the door claimed he could not remember the number. R13-1536. When he asked for a phone book, she told him to go away. R13-1532. Because she became afraid, Ms. Ventry called 911. Id.

Ms. Ventry's home was across the street and down the road about 500 yards from the victims' house trailer, about a mile from Hertz's trailer. R13-1534, State's Exhibit 10 (map of the area). When the deputy arrived from the 911 dispatch, no one was there outside her home, but footprints were all around. R13-1535. There is no evidence as to the time the deputy arrived at Ms. Ventry's house.

As Dempsey, Hertz and Looney continued down the road from Ventry's house, on seeing the Mustang, Looney said, "There's my car right there. That's the one I want." R16-1903. Dempsey approached the car and looked it over. He heard a little dog

barking in the yard, R16-1959, and decided to go up on the porch and knock on the door to ask to use the phone. R16-1904. Dempsey was trying to get King's attention "so that somebody was supposed to be messing with the car, which was not happening." R16-1941. Keith Spears and Melanie King came to the door; King gave Dempsey a cordless phone. R16-1905. Dempsey and Hertz were on the porch, but Looney had come from around the side of the trailer and was on the ground down below the porch. R16-1905.

Dempsey told Spears and King that one of his "companions" had dropped a cigarette and he had gone in a ditch and got stuck. He said he would call his brother for help. R16-1905-06. He wanted to dupe King into opening the door, and she handed him a portable phone. R16-1942. He pretended to dial "fraudulent" numbers, but then he handed the phone back. R16-1906. As soon as King took the phone, Hertz said, "Hold on for a minute." He stuck the .357 pistol through the door, went in the house, and grabbed King by the neck. R16-1906. Spears moved to the right and Looney, with the rifle, entered the house past Dempsey and yelled at Spears, "Don't move." Id. Spears got on the floor and Dempsey entered the house. R16-1907. Looney noticed an empty holster on the bed, so Dempsey began yelling at Spears to find out where the gun was. Spears had the gun, a

nine millimeter automatic handgun, underneath him, which Dempsey took away. R16-1910. Dempsey told Looney what to do. R16-1942. He instructed Looney to shoot Spears if he moved. R16-1943. Dempsey put a gun to Spears' head. R16-1961. Dempsey put Spears on the bed so that he could watch him better. R16-1962. He guarded the victims and may have said, "No one will leave the bedroom; I'm in charge." R16-1944.

Hertz taped King and Dempsey taped Spears with the duct tape from Dempsey's knapsack. R16-1907, 1912. Hertz tried to scare the Spears into revealing where the valuables were by waving the gun around. R16-1911-12. In doing so, Hertz broke the globe on the ceiling fan light. Dempsey was standing on Spears at that time. R16-1912.

King was on the bed and Dempsey moved Spears to the bed, even though Spears wanted to stay on the floor. R16-1913. Dempsey told Spears that he was placing him next to "his old lady" so he would not be scared. R16-1912. Both Spears and King were face down with their hands and feet bound with duct tape. R16-1913. Dempsey retaped King because her hands were turning blue, talking to her to reassure her, putting a pillow under her head for her comfort. R16-1913. According to Dempsey, his desire was to keep them both comfortable because he knew they were scared. R16-1914.

Property was removed from residence and put in the truck and car. R16-1914. Dempsey never said who took what items but admitted that he personally "took a few items." Id. Other items taken were the VCR, TV, jewelry, CDS, anything of value. R16-1915. Dempsey walked into the kitchen and Looney showed him a handful of 100-dollar bills Looney had found; Dempsey described the money as "bright" saying that it made him "feel happy." R16-1915. Hertz snatched the money out of Looney's hands and put it in Hertz's pocket. R16-1915.

Dempsey found a purse and looked at the King's driver's license; he realized that he knew King from school. R16-1916. He was "pretty sure" that Hertz had gone to school with the King also, but could not be certain because Hertz would often interrupt his schooling to go to St. Augustine. R16-1917. Apparently there was no discussion that night about whether Hertz knew King. Dempsey thought King had seen his face but he did not know if she had seen Hertz's face, though Hertz's face was "revealed" when he was standing on the porch next to Dempsey. R16-1917. Looney had been wearing a mask and gloves and could not have been identified. R16-1967. Dempsey was wearing black pants, a pair of brown work boots with socks, a shirt with "Slayer" written on it, and possibly black shorts under his pants. R16-1953, 1969.

Dempsey claimed that he spent most of the time in the bedroom "guarding" the victims. At one point he left that bedroom and went through the trailer to the far bedroom. When he entered the room, Looney asked Hertz, "Are you going to tell him?" Dempsey was then told that they could not leave witnesses; Dempsey felt he was outvoted "on this matter." R16-1918. Hertz told Dempsey that if he did not approve, he could "leave with a bullet." R16-1918. Dempsey testified that he took the statement "as a threat," but knowing Hertz as he did, he thought it was a "playful" statement. R16-1919. As Dempsey was going out to check the shed as instructed by Hertz, Hertz aimed at him with the laser scope on a pistol. Id. Dempsey admitted that Hertz never threatened him and admitted that he could have left the scene at any time. R16-1945.

As Dempsey was outside standing in front of the shed, smoking a cigarette, Hertz came out and Dempsey inarticulately voiced his ambivalence about the situation. R16-1920. Hertz told him to go back inside and he did. Id. Once inside, Dempsey saw Looney kneeling at the entertainment center trying to untangle wires. R16-1921. Then Hertz reentered the trailer with a red container "that you would put accelerant or gasoline in." R16-1921. Hertz said, "I don't know what you all want to do, but we have to do this." Id. Looney handed the VCR to Dempsey and told

him to take it to the car, which he did. R16-1921. He remembered Hertz pouring gasoline in the living room, but not anywhere else. R16-1921. He could not remember clearly whether Hertz handed Looney a can. R16-1922. Dempsey never says that any accelerant other than gasoline was used, contradicting the opinions of the forensic experts that other accelerants, such as turpentine and "medium petroleum distillate," were found on the clothes of the victims and on the clothing found at the time of the capture of the defendants.

The odor of gasoline was in the mobile home. R16-1922. All three, armed, went to the bedroom where the victims were. R16-1922. Dempsey had the .38 special, Looney had the rifle, Hertz had the silver pistol with the infrared laser and possibly "the other one.". R16-1923. Although Dempsey had taped the victims' mouths because he did not want them talking to each other anymore, King, who knew because she smelled gasoline that the men were going to "burn the house down," was able to say that she would rather die "being burnt up in flames than being shot." R16-1923. She said, "Please, God, don't shoot me in the head." Hertz said, "Sorry, can't do that." R16-1924. Hertz shot first, then Looney, then Dempsey, who shot "toward" Spears. R16-1924. Dempsey recalled at least seven shots being fired. Id. Dempsey admitted that he shot Spears twice in the head.

R16-1950. The first time he shot, there was no response; the second time he could see Spears' body move from the impact. <u>Id.</u>
He shot the second time because he wanted to be sure that Spears was dead and not suffering. R16-1968. The medical examiner testified that Spears was shot once in the head. Dempsey said that Hertz and Looney fired in the direction Spears or King but that he did not know who hit what. R16-1950.

The fire was started in the living room, and Hertz and Looney ran outside. <u>Id.</u> Dempsey never said who started the fire. Dempsey lingered inside the trailer, looking first at the flames and then at the "bed area" until Looney called him outside, and then Dempsey left. <u>Id.</u> According to Dempsey, the whole episode lasted two hours. <u>Id.</u> They left in a hurry, with Hertz driving the truck, and Looney driving the car. R16-1925.

Around 4:30 a.m. on July 27, 1997, Pam Revell-Hodges woke to what she thought was the sound of a car. She thought it was her son returning home. R13-1523. Her husband looked out the window and saw the trailer of Melanie King and Keith Spears engulfed in flames. R13-1527. She called 911. R13-1523. Her husband, Terry Hodges, tried to put out the fire with a water hose. Because there were no cars in the yard, he thought no one was at home. He realized that the sound that had awakened them

was the release valve on the propane gas tank of the trailer. R13-1524.

Deputy Dan Dailey with the Wakulla County Sheriff Office responded to the call to the scene of the fire at 4:35 a.m. R13-1538. He said the fire department had arrived 10 to fifteen minutes before he got there. R13-1539. Although there were no cars parked outside the residence, he saw spin marks from car tires. Id. He secured the area. R13-1540. He estimated that it took twenty minutes more to put the fire out. Id.

Shawn Yao, a crime lab analyst with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, testified as an expert witness for the State. He photographed the crime scene. State's Exhibits 1A-U; 2A-D. He collected remnants of clothing from the victims, foam from under the head of the female, and duct tape from the mouth and nose area and left hand of the male. R13-1555, 1576. collected a piece of duct tape on the ground outside to the east of the trailer. R13-1554. He collected bullets by sifting debris from the floor directly under where the heads of the victims had been on the bed. R13-1560, 1561, 1569. was so damaged by the fire that it was very fragile. R13-1560. The photographs of the trailer showed the floor burned away in R13-1567, 1568; State's Exhibit 1-P and 1-Q. several areas. Yao collected a total of 12 projectiles and 10 casings.

1572; State's Exhibit 3. He took photographs of tire tracks in the yard. R13-1566, State's Exhibit 1-L, 1-M.

Donald Begue owned a gun shop in Cross City and knew Keith Spears as a customer. R13-1541. He had sold two handguns to Spears in 1995 and 1996. R13-1542-1543. One was a .380 Lorcin automatic handgun and the other a P-89 Ruger nine millimeter handgun. R13-1542; State's exhibits 18 and 32. When it was introduced at trial, the .380 Lorcin automatic handgun had been modified since Begue sold the gun; a laser sight had been added. R13-1542.

David Williams was a firearms expert with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. R15-1818. He analyzed the 12 projectiles recovered from the area of the burned bed. R15-1820; State's Exhibit 3. Of the 12 projectiles, nine were bullets. R15-1821. Two of the bullets had been fired from a gun and seven had been heat fired. R15-1821. Of the two bullets fired from a gun, one was fired from a .380 automatic handgun. In Williams's opinion, that bullet was fired from the .380 Lorcin handgun recovered from Looney at the time of his arrest in Daytona Beach, the handgun owned by Keith Spears and used, according to Dempsey, by Hertz. R15-1823; State's Exhibit 18. The other bullet was fired from a .30 carbine rifle. R15-1822. As to the .30 caliber projectile, he could definitely

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