IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON BRICE LOONEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-458

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The state would submit that in the instant case the facts and circumstances presented and found by the trial court support the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor for these murder.

4. Pecuniary Gain

The last assault on the aggravating factors found by the trial court concerns whether the murders were for pecuniary gain. Citing <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988), Looney argues that the trial court made no finding that "the purpose of the murder or the sole motive for the murder was pecuniary gain." The record reflects, however, that the trial court merged this aggravating factor with the fact that the capital felony was committed during the course of a burglary, arson or robbery. The State would submit that having merged the two, the

- 61 -

trial court was correct in setting forth the basis for doing so. Hertz, Looney and Dempsey approached Melanie King's and Keith Spears' abode with a purpose of stealing a black Mustang and white Ford Ranger. Upon gaining entry into the mobile home, their thievery immediately escalated to anything valuable on the premises including VCR's, TV's and approximately fifteen hundred dollars in cash. There is absolutely no basis to suggest that there was any other motive, let alone the sole or dominate motive for these murders but robbery and pecuniary gain. <u>See</u> <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 193, 194-95 (1998); <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1999).

5. Harmless Error

Looney further argues that even should this Court strike any of the four aforenoted aggravating factors complained of, the remaining aggravating factors when compared with the mitigation presented would render any error harmful in this sentencing proceeding.

First, none of the aggravating factors found by the trial court are suspect. The trial court properly found each proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Even assuming for a moment, however, that an aggravating factor is found wanting, facts and circumstances supporting the remaining factors and the mitigation found by the trial court, would render any

- 62 -

erroneously found aggravating factor to be harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Zakrzewski v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998) (harmless error when HAC struck); <u>Knight v. State</u>, 746 So.2d 423, 435 (Fla. 1998) (striking HAC harmless error); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1012, 1027 (Fla. 1999) (striking avoid arrest harmless error); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 9, 20 (Fla. 2000) (striking avoid arrest factor harmless error).

Based on the foregoing the State would urge this Court to deny all relief as to Issue II on appeal.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY EXCUSED FOR CAUSE VENIRE MEMBER WHOSE OPPOSITION TO THE DEATH PENALTY MAY HAVE PREVENTED OR SUBSTANTIALLY IMPAIRED HER ABILITY TO PERFORM AS A JUROR.

Looney argues that Michelle Free was "impermissibly struck from the jury venire on the erroneous grounds that her opposition to the death penalty rose to the level of exclusion under <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510 (1968), and <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412 (1985)." (Appellant's Brief at 53).

The record reflects that Ms. Free was specifically asked

MR. MEGGS: Ms. Free, we are asking some questions about your feelings about the death penalty, so I have just first off a general question, and then we will get a little more specific.

- 63 -

Do you hold any personal, religious, moral, or conscientious scruples against the imposition of the death penalty?

MS. FREE: No.

MR. MEGGS: Okay. <u>So in an appropriate case</u>, you could vote to impose the death penalty?

MS. FREE: <u>Well, I don't know if I could,</u> really. My feeling is, even if someone did kill someone, it wouldn't bring that other back just by killing.

MR. MEGGS: Well, here's kind of the posture we're in here now. You know, this is kind of informal, but the State is seeking the death penalty in this case. And at the conclusion of all of the evidence, when you go back to deliberate, you are going to return a verdict a guilty or not guilty or some verdict dealing with this murder case.

If you do a verdict of guilty of firstdegree murder, then the death penalty is a possibility. Could you vote to impose -- to convict somebody when the death penalty is a possibility?

MS. FREE: No, sir.

MR. MEGGS: You could not?

MS. FREE: No.

MR. MEGGS: Your Honor, I think at this point she's --

THE COURT: Do you have any other questions? All right, Mr. Cummings?

MR. CUMMINGS: Ms. Free, you saying you can't even vote in the guilt phase whether the person is guilty or innocent because you know that there is a possibility of the death penalty, is that correct? MS. FREE: Yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: Okay. Could you vote in the guilt of innocent phase if you knew that the possibility was life in prison without parole?

MS. FREE: Yes, I could do that.

MR. CUMMINGS: You could do that?

MS. FREE: Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: So, in the situation that we're in today, there is two choices. Are you aware that whatever your choice is, it goes as a group recommendation to the jury?

MS. FREE: Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: Six to six or, whatever way it looks like, its just a recommendation.

MS. FREE: Yeah. Uh-huh.

MR. CUMMINGS: Could you sit in a panel and discuss with you fellow jurors your feelings why the death penalty wasn't appropriate in that case?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: You could certainly try to impose your opinion on others.

MS. FREE: I would try.

MR. CUMMINGS: And you listen to them, wouldn't you?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: <u>So assuming you have all this</u> <u>discussion</u>, an open discussion about the possibility of one sentence or the other, are you going to tell us today that you still couldn't participate in that discussion if you were on a jury?

MS. FREE: I just don't believe that I could actually be -- take a person life. Even if they were found guilty of killing someone, I would just rather them spend the rest of their life in jail because its not going to bring the person back, anyway.

MR. CUMMINGS: And that's true.

MS. FREE: Yeah, so --

MR. CUMMINGS: So you would have your opportunity, then, to express your opinions as to why this person would spend the rest of his natural life in prison, never getting out.

MS. FREE: Yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: You'd have the ability to try to convince others --

MS. FREE: I would try, yeah.

MR. CUMMINGS: You would try. But you don't necessarily want to be in that position, do you?

MS. FREE: Well, I mean, if I am, it wouldn't matter. My opinion is I just would not want to take someone else's life, just because --I mean, I know it's bad that they killed someone or anybody kills anybody, but it wouldn't bring that person back.

MR. CUMMINGS: That's true about that. So you could get by the guilt phase to get into this discussion about what's appropriate and you could express your opinion?

MS. FREE: Yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: So you could sit on the jury part where it's guilt or innocence?

MS. FREE: I believe I could, yes.

MR. CUMMINGS: Okay. But once you get to the other point, you're a little hesitant, but you could go in there and express your opinion to the jurors?

MS. FREE: Yes, sir.

MR. CUMMINGS: This is the way I feel, this is why I feel it, this is why I think life without parole is appropriate; you could do that, couldn't you?

MS. FREE: Yes. . . .

(RIV 170-175) (Emphasis added). Following a series of questions with regard to whether Ms. Free knew anything about the facts and circumstances of the case, the State sought cause challenges as to Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free:

> MR. MEGGS: Judge, as a matter of law, Ι think Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free are disqualified from sitting on this jury. They both has said, without regard to what Mr. Cummings asked them, they both have said they could not vote to impose the death penalty and that they would express their views, but both of them have stated they could not -- one said she could not do it unless it was her daughter. Well, it's not her daughter.

> And this one said she could not do it and she would try to talk the other one's out of doing it. So we're trying to pick a jury that will follow the law, and the law is the death penalty is appropriate in Florida. As so I would ask that both of these be excused for cause.

If they were to sit on the jury, we have two already who have made up their mind, that it doesn't matter what we present, they're not going to vote for the death penalty. And that's grounds for cause under <u>Witt</u>. I guess that's a U.S Supreme Court case.

THE COURT: Alright.

MR. CUMMINGS: Judge, if I could just have a minute here to make a note. I believe the State may have a better argument with reference to Ms. Kinsey, the second juror.

But as to Ms. Free, I don't think their argument is as strong. She's certainly going to go in there, she's going to try to impose her opinion, she's going to follow the law.

Initially she couldn't even vote in the guilt phase, but she turned that around; she could vote in the guilt phase.

I don't believe, in respect to Ms. Free, that the State has as good a case for cause under <u>Witt</u> as they do in Kinsey. I'd ask the Court not to excuse Ms. Free for cause.

Ms. Kinsey, she did say absolutely no to my final question, trying to simplify things.

THE COURT: Anything further?

MR. THOMPSON: Judge, I would object to the excusal of both Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free. They both indicated that they could vote in the guilt or innocence phase, and these defendants are entitled to a cross-section of the community, and so far we have three people come in here.

Two of them have reservations about the death penalty. If we excuse people based upon their hesitancy to vote to impose a death penalty, when they can still vote in the guilty and innocence phase, we're depriving Mr. Hertz of a right to a jury that represents a cross-section of the community.

THE COURT: I don't think either of these jurors indicated they could be fair and impartial in all the phases of this case, and I'm going to have to grant the State's motion and to Ms. Kinsey and Ms. Free.

MR. CUMMINGS: So is that a court standard, that we need to ask whether they can be fair and impartial in each phase?

THE COURT: Well, both of the juror indicated and said that under no circumstances would they vote in favor of the death penalty. I don't think there was any equivocation.

There was, I grant you, perhaps a little more maybe with -- well, I'm not sure. I think perhaps more with Ms. Kinsey than there was with Ms. Free, for that matter.

I think under <u>Witt</u> both of them are properly excused, if the State requests a challenge for cause. . .

(RIV 176-179).

The record reflects that on three separate occasions Ms. Free testified that she could not impose the death penalty "even if someone did kill someone, it wouldn't bring that other person back just by killing them." (RIV 171, 173, 174). Counsels for Hertz and Looney attempted to rehabilitate Ms. Free under a misconceived notion that because a juror may be willing to convict a defendant of first-degree murder, there is no need for that juror to have an open mind with regard to both the aggravation and mitigation to be presented in the penalty phase of a case. Clearly, Ms. Free could not do that, she was unequivocal with regard to her stance that she would try and convince others that death was not appropriate "no matter what the aggravation or lack of mitigation might show." "My opinion is I just would not want to take someone else's life, just because -- I mean, I know it's bad that they killed someone or anybody kills anybody, but it wouldn't bring that person back." (RIV 174).

In <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462, 467-468 (Fla. 1998), this Court observed:

> Martin claims Finally, San that prospective jurors that did not believe in the death penalty were improperly eliminated by peremptory or cause challenges. As United Supreme Court explained in Lockhart, individuals "who cannot and will not conscientiously obey the law with respect to one of the issues in a capital case" are subject to removal for cause. Lockhart, 476 U.S. at 176, 106 S.Ct. 1758. In addition, "the State may properly exercise its peremptory challenges to strike prospective jurors who are opposed to the death penalty, but not subject to challenges for cause . . . [because] [b]oth parties have the right to peremptory strike "persons thought to be inclined against their interest"." (cite omitted). In order to state a claim regarding the striking of a juror for his or her views on the death penalty, San Martin would have to identify a specific instance where a prospective juror was removed for cause even though the jurors view on capital punishment would not "prevent or

substantially impair the performance of [the jurors] duties as a juror in accordance with [the jurors] instructions and [the jurors] oath." <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. at 424, 105 S.Ct. 844 (quoting <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, 448 U.S. 38, 44, 100 S.Ct. 2521, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980)) (clarifying decision in <u>Witherspoon</u> <u>v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968). . .

717 So.2d at 461-462.

Likewise in <u>Kearse v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S507 (Fla. 2000), the Court rejected Kearse's challenge to the State's cause challenge of Juror Jeremy. The Court observed

> . the test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render a verdict solely on the evidence presented and the instruction on the law given by the court. <u>See Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984). A juror must be excused for cause if any reasonable doubt exist as to whether the juror posses an impartial state of mind. See Bryan v. State, 656 So.2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995). A trial court has great discretion when deciding whether to grant or deny a challenge for cause based on jurors incompetency. See Pentacose v. <u>State</u>, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1989). The decision to deny a challenge for cause will be upheld on appeal if there is support in the record for the decision. See Gore v. <u>State</u>, 706 So.2d 1328, 1332 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 892, 119 S.Ct. 212, 142 L.Ed.2d 174 (1998). "In reviewing a have claim of error such as this we recognized that the trial court has a unique vantage point in the determination of juror The trial court is able to see the bias. jurors′ voir dire responses and make observations which simply cannot be discerned from an appellate record." Smith

<u>v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 629, 635-36 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 1194, 140 L.Ed.2d 323 and <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1020, 118 S.Ct. 1300, 140 L.Ed.2d 466 (1998); <u>see also Taylor v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1994). It is the trial court's duty to determine a challenge for cause is proper. <u>See Smith</u>, 699 So.2d at 636.

The trial courts finding that Juror Jeremy's views would have substantially impaired her performance as a juror is adequately supported by the record. Throughout questioning by the State and defense counsel Jeremy stated that her feelings about the death penalty would impair her ability to follow the law and that she just could not see herself voting for death when she knew that a true life sentence was an alternative. Thus, there was no error in dismissing Jeremy for cause.

25 Fla.L.Weekly at S509. <u>See also Fernandez v. State</u>, 730 So.2d 277, 281 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 477 So.2d 553, 555-556 (Fla. 1985) and Taylor v. State, 638 So.2d 30-32 (Fla. 1994).

Based on the foregoing there is absolutely no question that Ms. Free could not sit as a fair and impartial juror without substantially impairing her performance in accordance with both the jurors instructions and/or oath. All relief must be denied as to this claim.

<u>ISSUE IV</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE'S MOTION TO REQUIRE UNANIMOUS VERDICTS AT THE PENALTY PHASE. Citing to <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000), Looney argues that "any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." 120 S.Ct. at 2362-63. In light of the foregoing, Looney argues that under Florida's death penalty scheme the juries recommendation is not unanimous nor is the jury required to tell anyone what aggravation is found. Looney invites this Court "in light of <u>Apprendi</u>" to reexamine the majority vote practice in jury capital sentencing and require jury unanimity, including but not limited to the existence of any aggravating factors and as to the recommended sentence. (Appellant's Brief at 63).

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